IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

vs.

CASE NO. SC03-1676 4D01-4197

GARY MATTHEWS,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR.

Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

CELIA TERENZIO

Assistant Attorney General Bureau Chief, West Palm Florida Bar No. 656879

JEANINE M. GERMANOWICZ

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0019607 1515 N. Flagler Drive 9th Floor West Palm Beach, FL 33401-3432 Telephone: (561) 837-5000 Counsel for Petitioner

CASE NO. SC03-1676/4D01-4197

STATE OF FLORIDA v. GARY MATTHEWS

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, the State of Florida, was the prosecution in the trial court below and the appellee in the appellate court below and will be referred to herein as "Petitioner" or "the State." Respondent was the defendant in the trial court below, and the appellant in the appellate court below and will be referred to herein as "Respondent" and "Defendant." Reference to the record on appeal will be by the symbol "R;" reference to the transcripts will be by the symbol "T;" reference to any supplemental record or transcripts will be by the symbols "SR" or "ST;" and reference to Petitioner's brief in the appellate court will be by the symbol "IAB;" all followed by the appropriate page numbers. For example page one of the supplemental record would appear as (SR 1).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The District Court of Appeal, Fourth District, summarized the facts of this somewhat complex case history as follows:

In 1990, Mathews pled guilty to (count I) battery on a law enforcement officer, (count II) resisting an officer with violence, and (count III) escape. For counts I and II, he was sentenced to serve concurrent terms of five years as a habitual felony offender with credit for time served. For count III, he was ordered to serve five years of probation consecutive to the prison sentence.

In 1994, while serving the probation portion of his sentence for count III, Matthews committed two new crimes. The court revoked Matthews' probation in the 1990 case and sentenced him to serve four and a half years in prison with credit for the 355 days he had served while awaiting sentencing. On that same day, Matthews was also sentenced for the substantive charges of sexual battery and false imprisonment in case number 94-1592. However, this sentence was reversed on appeal to this court and Matthews was re-sentenced in 1997.

Upon re-sentencing on case number 94-1592, Matthews was ordered to serve five years in prison as to count I and, as to count II, one year in prison followed by four years on probation, with 1,099 days credit for time served, plus all unforfeited gain time. n2

n2 Matthews' sentence, as to count II, was subsequently amended, resulting in a sentence of one year and one day followed by three years and 364 days of probation.

In 2001, Matthews violated his probation in the 1994 case and was resentenced. Matthews filed a *rule 3.800(b)* motion to correct sentence in case 90-1156

arguing that he should have received Tripp credit and, because he had completed the 1990 sentence, the credit should be considered relative to the date he commenced serving his 1994 sentence.

Matthews v. State, 854 So. 2d 238 (Fla. 4th DCA 2003).1

The appellate court opined that had <u>Tripp</u> credit been applied in the 1990 case, Matthews' sentence in the 1994 case would have started sooner than it did. Applying its decision in <u>Palmer v. State</u>, 804 So. 2d 455 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001), the Fourth District held that the <u>Tripp</u> rationale applied even where the defendant was sentenced as a habitual offender.

Rejecting Petitioner's argument that the issue was moot because the sentence in 90-1156 had long since been completed, the Fourth District held that Respondent was entitled to correct credit for time served in an earlier case when it impacted a subsequent release date. Accordingly, the appellate court reversed the denial of the Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.800 motion and remanded to the trial court for further proceedings consistent with their opinion. However, the court certified conflict with the District Court of Appeal for the Second District, which court held in <u>Duncan v. State</u>,

¹ <u>Tripp v. State</u>, 622 So. 2d 941 (Fla. 1993)(defendant was sentenced to imprisonment on one count followed by probation on the second count; this Court held that credit must be awarded for time served on the first count against the sentence imposed for violating probation on the second count).

686 So. 2d 701 (Fla. 2d DCA 1996), that <u>Tripp</u> credit was not applicable to habitual felony offender sentences. This petition for review followed.

The State would note that Respondent is no longer in custody, having completed his sentence subsequent to the filing of the Fourth District's opinion. The State submits, however, as it did in its response to Respondent's "Suggestion of Mootness," that this Court should nonetheless entertain this case as this issue is capable of repetition, although Respondent has suggested it should evade review in the instant case, and is one of significant public importance.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Appellant was not entitled to credit toward a sentence long since served. The issue was moot and the District Court of Appeal for the Fourth District should have declined to address it, especially where the motion itself was facially insufficient.

Moreover, <u>Tripp</u> credit for habitual offender sentences should not be credited towards guidelines sentences imposed after revocation of probation. Habitual offender sentences are not governed by the guidelines. Therefore, this Court should reverse the opinion of the Fourth District and affirm the trial court's denial of Gary Matthew's Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.800 motion.

ARGUMENT

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION TO CORRECT SENTENCE IN CONNECTION TO CASE NUMBER 90-1156. (Restated).

Respondent claimed below that he was entitled to <u>Tripp</u> credit toward Count III for time served on Counts I and II in case number 90-1156 pursuant to <u>Tripp v. State</u>, 622 So. 2d 941, 942 (Fla. 1993). According to Respondent's argument, if he had received such credit, his sentence in case 90-1156 would have ended earlier and his sentence in case 94-1592 would have started running earlier. Therefore, Respondent asserts that the period of time "wrongfully served" in case 90-1156 should be credited to time served in case number 94-1592. (AIB 26).

As the State argued and the trial court recognized below, the trial court was without jurisdiction to correct the sentence in case number 90-1156. Respondent finished serving that sentence and commenced serving his sentences for the 1994 offenses on May 29, 1996, according to the Department of Corrections. (R 118-119). Respondent was no longer "in custody" for the 1990 offenses when he filed his Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.800 motion. Therefore, any attack on the sentence in 90-1156 was moot because Respondent had already served his time. Moore v. Moore, 764 So. 2d 676 (Fla.

1st DCA 2000); <u>Archibald v. State</u>, 715 So. 2d 1154 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998); Lee v. State, 230 So. 2d 478 (Fla. 4th DCA 1970).

Even if this issue were not moot, Respondent did not properly raise this claim for relief in his Rule 3.800 motion below. As defense trial counsel below stated, he could not predict the effect, if any, of such an application of Tripp credit on Petitioner's current sentence. (SR 13-14). For example, if Petitioner were to obtain Tripp credit for Counts I and II, then the Department of Corrections could revoke any gain time earned on Counts I and II and greatly reduce or erase any benefit Petitioner got from Tripp credit. Gibson v. Florida Department of Corrections, 828 So. 2d 422 (Fla. 1st DCA 2002), rev. granted, 842 So. 2d 843 (Fla. 2003)(defendant must serve time not previously served as forfeited gain time); § 944.28, Fla. Stat. (1989)(forfeiture of gain time upon revocation of probation).

Therefore, the Rule 3.800 motion to correct that was originally filed in the trial court was properly denied because it was, as the assistant state attorney below recognized, facially insufficient under Rule 3.800(a) - Petitioner did not sufficiently allege or demonstrate the alleged prejudice resulting from the alleged error. (SR 9). After all, a motion to correct an illegal sentence relies on

error which is apparent from the face of the record and can be resolved without resort to an evidentiary hearing. Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.800(a); State v. Callaway, 658 So. 2d 983, 987-988 (Fla. 1995). Here, the alleged error was not readily apparent from the face of the record.

The State would note that although Respondent filed a Rule 3.800(b) motion, the motion was not ripe under subsection (b) of the rule since it was not filed prior to or during the pendency of a direct appeal from the 1990 convictions and sentences. In fact, the motion was filed in connection with a sentence that had long since been served. For this reason, the trial court properly treated the Rule 3.800(b) motion as a Rule 3.800(a) motion and denied it without an evidentiary hearing. (R 308, 311).

Admittedly, during the pendency of the appeal from this Rule 3.800(a) motion, Respondent filed a Rule 3.800(b) motion asserting the same issue. (SR1). As a result, the Fourth District chose to treat this proceeding pursuant to Rule 3.800(b). This was error. Respondent should not be allowed to render a motion, which was facially insufficient under Rule 3.800(a), facially sufficient merely by filing a Rule 3.800(b) motion during the pendency of an appeal from the facially insufficient Rule 3.800(a) motion. That would unfairly allow

Respondent to avoid both of the procedural bars in Rule 3.800(a) and Rule 3.800(b). This Court should not permit it.

With regard to the merits of Respondent's claim, it is true that this Court held, in Tripp, that if a trial court imposes a term of probation on one offense consecutive to a sentence of incarceration on another offense, credit for time served on the first offense must be awarded on the sentence imposed after revocation of probation on the second offense. However, Tripp involved guideline sentences and not habitual offender sentences.

Nonetheless, the Fourth District reasoned in this case and in Palmer v. State, 804 So. 2d 455 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001), that Tripp was also applicable to habitual offender sentences. The Fourth District certified conflict in this case because they were in direct conflict with the Second District in Duncan v. State, 686 So. 2d 701 (Fla. 2d DCA 1996), wherein the Second District held that Tripp credit did not apply to habitual offender sentences. Although the Fourth District did not also certify conflict with the Fifth District, the Fifth District seems to have adopted the view of the Second District. McKnight v. State, 773 So. 2d 560 (Fla. 5th DCA 2000). This Court should strike down the Fourth District's opinions and uphold the Second District's opinions because the

Second District's reasoning is more logical than the Fourth District's.

This is because, by statute, the guidelines do not apply to habitual offender sentences. Studnicka v. State, 679 So. 2d 819, 822 (Fla. 1996), rev. denied, 687 So. 2d 1306 (Fla. 1996). Habitual offender sentences are removed from the guidelines and a scoresheet is, therefore, not necessary.

Rice v. State, 622 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993), citing Daniels v. State, 591 So. 2d 1103 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992). See also Holley v. State, 527 So. 2d 624, 625 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991) (in sentencing appellant as an habitual offender, court was not required to utilize a sentencing guidelines scoresheet since habitual offender sentencing was by statute exempted from sentencing guidelines procedures). Thus, as the Second District properly recognized, a defendant is not entitled to credit for time served on a guidelines sentence toward a habitual offender sentence.

It must be noted that the self-evident goal of the sentencing guidelines scoring system was to achieve control over the **total** prison term for all guidelines sentences scored on the same scoresheet and imposed at the same sentencing.

Compare <u>Tripp</u>, 622 So. 2d at 942 (incarcerative period that exceeds guidelines range is inconsistent with intent of

guidelines). A guidelines sentence was usually far less than the statutory maximum sentence and was not permitted to exceed the top of the guidelines range, absent a departure, or to exceed the statutory maximum. § 921.001, Fla. Stat. (1989); Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.701. In contrast, a habitual offender sentence was intended to be harsher than a guideline sentence and was permitted to exceed the top of the guidelines range and the statutory maximum. §§ 775.084 and 775.0841, Fla. Stat. (1989) (the intent of the repeat and violent felony offender statutes is to incarcerate these offenders for extended terms).

Tripp was intended to address a specific sentencing danger under the guidelines, the danger that trial courts might impose consecutive probation as a mechanism to boost, on a subsequent violation, the total incarcerative term beyond the guidelines range. Ray v. State, 782 So. 2d 468 (Fla. 2d DCA 2001). That danger did not exist here because the three 1990 sentences imposed on Counts I, II, and III were never required to collectively fall within an overall guidelines range since two of them were habitual offender sentences. Using credit for one type of sentence toward the other is like mixing apples and oranges - it cannot be done because they are not the same thing.

Significantly, the guidelines prison sentence, four and a half years in prison, that Respondent received for Count III after violating his five year guidelines probation sentence for Count III did not exceed the total guidelines sentence permissible for the only sentence that Respondent received under the guidelines - the sentence for Count III. The top of the permissible sentencing range for the only sentence imposed under the guidelines in this case was four and a half years, including the one cell bump that was permitted upon revocation of probation.² Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.701(d)(14); Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.988. Therefore, no Tripp credit was needed to make sure that Respondent's sentence did not exceed the total guidelines sentence permissible upon a violation of probation.

As appellate courts have noted, this Court did not intend its holding in Tripp to be applied in every case in which probation is imposed on one offense consecutive to a sentence of incarceration on another offense, without consideration of

² Interestingly, it appears that the top of the Guidelines range would have remained exactly the same - three and a half years before the violation of probation and four and a half years after the violation - whether Respondent had been scored under Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.988(d) using Count I (battery on a law enforcement officer) as the primary offense and Counts II and III as additional offenses or had been scored under Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.988(h) using Count III (escape) as the primary offense and not scoring Counts I and II at all.

the circumstances involved. <u>Slater v. State</u>, 639 So. 2d 80, 81 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994). Given the circumstances herein, <u>Tripp</u> should not apply. Stated another way, time served on two habitual offender sentences need not and should not be credited to a guidelines sentence imposed after revocation of probation.³

In fact, giving a defendant credit in a situation like the one herein could mean that the defendant could violate probation with impunity because he would already have served all the time he ever had to on the first two counts. It would

Although not dispositive, Hodgdon v. State, 789 So. 2d 958 (Fla. 2001)(Court was not confronted with a sentence that exceeded that permitted under the guidelines but noted that this factor alone did not preclude the application of Tripp), it is worth noting that the two concurrent five year habitual offender prison sentences for Counts I and II and the consecutive five year guidelines probation sentence for Count III that Respondent initially received in this case were much less than what he could have received. The trial court could have imposed a ten year habitual offender prison sentence for Counts I and II, third degree felonies, and could have imposed a three and a half year guideline prison sentence for Count §§ 775.084 and 921.001, Fla. Stat. (1989). Moreover, had the trial court chosen to sentence Respondent as a habitual offender on all three counts, Respondent could have been sentenced to thirty years in prison for Count III, the second degree felony, and to concurrent ten year terms in prison for Counts I and II, third degree felonies. § 775.084, Fla. Stat. (1989). Even though the trial judge ultimately imposed nine and a half years worth of prison for all three counts following Appellant's violation of probation (the initial five years prison on Counts I and II plus the later four and a half years prison on Count III), this was far less than Petitioner might have received. This is simply another reason why the justification for the Tripp rule does not apply in this case.

make probation essentially worthless in this situation.

In addition, the State would note that, even if
Respondent was somehow entitled to <u>Tripp</u> credit for the 1990
offenses, it would be contrary to public policy to allow
Respondent to use it as credit toward the 1994 offenses crimes which had yet to be committed in 1990. <u>Silvester v.</u>
State, 794 So. 2d 683 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001). See also, <u>Hodgdon v.</u>
State, 789 So. 2d 958 (Fla. 2001)(<u>Tripp</u> was never intended to
provide a sentencing boon or windfall to defendants upon
violations of probation). For this reason as well as for the
others cited herein, this Court must deny Respondent the
relief he has received from the Fourth District - applying
credit for time served on a 1990 crime toward a 1994 crime.

CONCLUSION

Wherefore, based on the foregoing arguments and the authorities cited therein, Petitioner respectfully requests this Court REVERSE the decision of the FOURTH DISTRICT and, by so doing, AFFIRM the denial of Respondent's Rule 3.800 motion below.