IN THE

SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATI	E OF FLORIDA,)		
)		
	Petitioner,)		
)		
vs.)	CASE NO.	SC03-1676
)	DCA#	4D01-4197
GARY	MATTHEWS,)	
)		
	Respondent.)		
)		

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

CAREY HAUGHWOUT Public Defender 15th Judicial Circuit

MARCY K. ALLEN Assistant Public Defender Attorney for Gary Matthews Criminal Justice Building 421 Third Street, 6th Floor West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 (561) 355-7600 Florida Bar No. 332161

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court has consistently held that where a defendant is sentenced to prison on one count followed by probation on another count, the original prison sentence must be credited against the prison sentence which is imposed upon revocation of probation. The rationale for this holding is that the sentences for offenses which are interrelated when originally pronounced, remain interrelated throughout the process. Based upon this rule of law, the Fourth District Court of Appeal properly determined that the where respondent was sentenced as an habitual felony offender to concurrent 5 year prison terms on counts I and II followed by probation on count III, the trial court was required to credit the 5 year prison sentence against the prison sentence imposed upon revocation of probation.

The issue was not moot at the time the motion to correct sentence pursuant to <u>Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure</u> 3.800(b)(2) was filed where respondent was serving a consecutive prison sentence on a second case. Had he been awarded proper credit on the first case which was the subject of the motion, his sentence on the second case would have commenced to run at an earlier date. Thus, his sentence in the second case was directly effected by the failure to award proper credit in the first case.

Consequently, the Fourth District Court of Appeal properly

- 4 -

determined the issues and its opinion should be approved by this Court.

ARGUMENT

THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL COR-RECTLY HELD THAT <u>TRIPP¹</u> CREDIT APPLIES TO HABITUAL OFFENDER SENTENCES

The Fourth District Court of Appeal correctly held that where a defendant was originally sentenced to incarceration as an habitual felony offender on two counts followed by probation on a third, upon violation and revocation of probation, the original prison term must be credited against the newly imposed term of incarceration. <u>Matthews v. State</u>, 854 So. 2d 238 (Fla. 4th DCA 2003). This holding recognizes that "offenses which are originally sentenced together should continue to be treated in relation to each other." <u>Palmer v. State</u>, 804 So. 2d 455, 456 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001) citing <u>Tripp v. State</u>, 622 So. 2d 941 (Fla. 1993). The opinion should be approved by this Court.

Since the sentencing error at issue is a pure question of law the standard of review is *de novo*. See, <u>State v. Glatzmayer</u>, 789 So. 2d 297 n. 7 (Fla. 2001).

While petitioner accurately highlights <u>Tripp</u> as a guidelines case insuring that the guidelines were not circumvented when sentence was imposed upon violation of probation, that was but part of the rationale for the decision. Not only was this Court concerned that failure to award credit for time spent in prison would result in a *de facto* departure from the guideline range

¹<u>Tripp v. State</u>, 622 So. 2d 941 (Fla. 1993)

when sentence was imposed upon violation probation, this Court viewed sentencing on multiple counts or in multiple cases traveling together as an integrated process, not merely a slice of the pie. <u>Tripp v. State</u>. 622 So. 2d at 942

In the paragraph preceding the holding that "if a trial court imposes a term of probation on one offense consecutive to a sentence of incarceration on another offense, credit for time served on the first offense must be awarded on the sentence imposed after revocation of probation on the second offense," this Court wrote:

> The State argues that Tripp was convicted of two separate crimes and received two separate sentences. Thus, Tripp is not entitled to credit for time served on his first conviction after revocation of probation on his second conviction. The State, however, ignores the fact that both offenses were factors that were weighed in the original sentencing through the use of a single scoresheet and must continue to be treated in relation to each other, even after a portion of the sentence has been violated. See Lambert, 545 So.2d at 838, 841; Fullwood <u>v. State</u>, 558 So.2d 168, 170 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990).

622 So. 2d at 942.

Later cases from this Court interpreting <u>Tripp</u> emphasize that sentencing for multiple counts or multiple cases is an interrelated process. Therefore, <u>Tripp</u> credit must be awarded even though the sentence, without the credit, was within the guideline range. <u>Cook v. State</u>, 645 So. 2d 436, 437-438 (Fla. 1994); <u>Hodgdon v. State</u>, 789 So. 2d 958 n.5 (Fla. 2001); <u>State</u> <u>v. Witherspoon</u>, 810 So. 2d 871 (Fla. 2002).

When a defendant with multiple cases or multiple counts appears before a Judge for sentencing, the Judge has an overall sentencing plan in mind which is pronounced count by count. The structure creates a nexus between the charges and their sentences which remains in tact throughout the proceedings. An interrelated unit approach to sentencing requires approval of <u>Matthews v. State</u>, 854 So. 2d at 238 and comports with legislative intent in the realm of habitual offender sentencing.²

In 1993, the legislature formally rejected contemporaneous convictions as a predicate for the enhanced sentence and required prior sequential convictions. See, Ch. 93-406, Laws of Fla. The habitual offender statute thus, views prior convictions as a unit when they are entered on the same day and not simply as individual convictions. Awarding <u>Tripp</u> credit upon violation of probation in a multiple count habitual offender case is consistent with the legislature's approach to prior record as a predicate for habitual offender sentencing.

In <u>Duncan v. State</u>, 686 So. 2d 701 (Fla. 2d DCA 1996), the Second District Court of Appeal found that <u>Tripp</u> credit did not apply to a sentence as an habitual offender imposed upon

²It bears noting at this juncture that this Court decided <u>Tripp</u> in 1993 and <u>Cook</u> in 1994. In the ensuing decade, the legislature has not acted to abrogate these holdings.

revocation of probation. Like petitioner, the Second District, reasoned that <u>Tripp</u> credit was awarded only to avoid a potential departure sentence. <u>Duncan</u>, however, was decided in 1996 before this Court's 2001 decision in <u>Hodgdon v. State</u>, 789 So. 2d at 958 and its 2002 decision in <u>State v. Witherspoon</u>, 810 So. 2d at 871. Post <u>Hodgdon</u> and <u>Witherspoon</u>, and without discussing <u>Duncan</u>, the Second District reached a conclusion contrary to <u>Duncan</u> in <u>Sylvester v. State</u>, 842 So. 2d 977 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003).

In <u>Sylvester</u>, the defendant pled to 3 separate cases. In the first, he received a net sentence as an **habitual felony** offender of 4 years in prison followed by 4 years of probation. In the second and third, he was placed on concurrent terms of probation which ran concurrent with the probationary term of the first case. He was found to have violated the concurrent terms of probation in each of the 3 cases and was sentenced to prison as an habitual felony offender. The Second District Court of Appeal held that the defendant should have received credit for the time spent in prison as an habitual felony offender in the first case on the other two cases as well.

As evidenced by <u>Sylvester</u>, it is very plausible that <u>Duncan</u> would have been decided differently today particularly in light of <u>Hodgdon</u> and <u>Witherspoon</u>. Accord, <u>Thomas v. State</u>, 805 So. 2d 850 (Fla. 2d DCA 2001)(<u>Tripp</u> applies to defendant's sentence under the Criminal Punishment Code); Contra, <u>Moore v. State</u>, 859

- 9 -

So. 2d 613 (Fla. 1st DCA 2003) order on jurisdiction, SCO3-2136 (Fla. Dec. 15, 2003) (Tripp credit does not apply to sentence under the Criminal Punishment Code); but see, James v. State, 845 So. 2d 238, 240 (Fla. 1st DCA 2003) (in context of resentencing First District acknowledged "[w]hen a defendant is sentenced for multiple crimes arising from a single criminal episode, nothing prevents a trial judge from weighing all the crimes in determining the appropriate sentence; hence, the sentence for each count should not be viewed in isolation, but as part of a purposeful plan.")

Here, respondent was charged in a single information with 6 offenses occurring in 1990 (R-13-14). He pled no contest to counts I, II and III while the remaining counts were nolle prossed by the state (R-7-8). As to counts I and II, he was sentenced to serve concurrent terms of 5 years in prison as an habitual felony offender with credit for 134 days time served (R-9-12; R-267-268) A consecutive term of 5 years probation was imposed as to count III (R-13-15, 16-17, 264-267). Ultimately, probation was revoked and respondent was sentenced to serve 4 1/2 years in prison with credit for only 355 days (R-24-26, 304). Respondent was not designated an habitual felony offender as to count III. Based upon this Court's line of case law, the Fourth District Court correctly held that credit for the time spent in prison on counts I and II should have been awarded

- 10 -

against the sentence imposed in count III since the sentences for each count were interrelated from the onset. <u>Matthews v.</u> <u>State</u>, 854 So. 2d at 238. The opinion should be approved by this Court. <u>Tripp</u>; <u>Cook</u>; <u>Hodgdon</u>; <u>Witherspoon</u>.

Although the state sought discretionary jurisdiction in this court and opposed respondent's suggestion of mootness based upon expiration of the sentence imposed in the 1994 case before the award of <u>Tripp</u> credit, petitioner now argues, ironically, that "any attack on the sentence in 90-1156 was moot because Respondent had already served his time." (Petitioner's Initial Brief This claim was fully reviewed by the Fourth District at 5). Court of Appeal and rejected in its written opinion. Matthews v. State, 854 So. 2d at 239-240. It is outside the parameters of the certified conflict and the merits need not be reached. See, Ross v. State, 601 So. 2d 1190, 1193 (Fla. 1992)("The remaining issues lie beyond the scope of the issue for which jurisdiction lies, and we see no need to exercise our prerogative to reach them."); <u>Salters v. State</u>, 758 So. 2d 667, 669 n.5 (Fla. 2000) ("These additional claims are clearly outside the scope of the certified conflict issue, and we decline to address them."); <u>Welsh v. State</u>, 850 So. 2d 467, 471 n.6 (Fla. 2003) ("We decline to address the other issues raised by Welsh that are not the basis of our jurisdiction."); <u>Wood v. State</u>, 750 So. 2d 592, 595 n. 3 (Fla. 1999) (declining to address issues beyond

- 11 -

the scope of the certified conflict); Raford v. State, 828 So. 2d 1012, 1021 n.12 (Fla. 2002) ("We decline to address the other issues raised by petitioner because they are beyond the scope of the certified conflict in this case."); Barnett v. Barnett, 768 So. 2d 441 n.1 (Fla. 2000) ("We decline to address petitioner's second issue on appeal because it is beyond the scope of the certified conflict in this case."); Jones v. State, 759 So. 2d 681, 682 n.1 (Fla. 2000) ("Further, we decline to address Jones' ineffective assistance of trial counsel claim here, as the Third District fully addressed that claim in the decision below and the claim clearly is outside the scope of the certified conflict before us."); <u>Williams v. State</u>, 759 So. 2d 680 n.1 (Fla. 2000) ("Moreover, we decline to address Williams' claim challenging the Third District's interpretation of section 775.084(1)(c)1., Florida Statutes (1997), which is clearly outside the scope of the certified conflict issue.").

A conservative application of discretionary review in this instance is in keeping with the general premise that, as a case "travels up the judicial ladder, review should consistently become narrower, not broader." <u>Haines City Community Dev. v.</u> <u>Heggs</u>, 658 So. 2d 523, 530 (Fla. 1995); <u>The Florida Bar re</u> <u>Williams</u>, 718 So. 2d 773, 778 n. 5 (Fla. 1998).

On the merits, the argument overlooks the domino relationship between the 1990 case and the 1994 case. Mr. Matthews was sentenced in both cases on the same date to consecutive prison terms (R-24-26, 27-33). Were the trial court to have awarded <u>Tripp</u> credit on the 1990 case, Mr. Matthews would have completely served that sentence on the date it was imposed, March 3, 1995 and his sentence on the 1994 case would have begun on March 3, 1995. Instead, according to the Department of Corrections, the sentence on the 1990 case did not expire until May 29, 1996 and the sentence on the 1994 case did not begin to run until May 29, 1996 (R-118-119).

By wrongfully denying <u>Tripp</u> credit in the 1990 case, the circuit court effectively extended Mr. Matthews' sentence on the 1994 case by 1 year and 88 days, representing the period from March 3, 1995, the date the 1994 sentence should have commenced, to May 29, 1996, the date the Department calculated that it began.

As the Fourth District Court of Appeal held:

The record reflects that had Tripp credit been applied in the 1990 case, his sentence in the 1994 case would have started one year and 88 days sooner than it did. Prior to Palmer, case law indicated that Tripp credit would not be applied to a violation of probation from time served by the defendant on counts for which he was sentenced as a habitual felony offender. See Duncan v. So.2d 686 701 (Fla. State, 2d DCA 1996) (holding that Tripp credit is not applicable to habitual felony offender sentence).

This court has determined that a prisoner is entitled to correct a credit for time served

in an earlier case that impacts a subsequent release date. See <u>Pizano v. State</u>, 829 So.2d 396 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002). In <u>Pizano</u>, the appellant had completed his 1995 sentence when he argued that he was entitled to be re-sentenced under the 1994 quidelines pursuant to <u>Heggs v. State</u>, 759 So.2d 620 (Fla.2000). The state argued that the issue was moot because he had already completed sentence. This court his rejected the state's argument because he was still in prison serving sentences in two other cases that ran consecutive to the 1995 case. The 1995 sentence was combined with the other two concurrent sentences to calculate his release date. As a result, although he had completed his 1995 sentence, the error in that case continued to affect his release date. Therefore, this court reversed and remanded with instructions that the appellant be re-sentenced under the 1994 guidelines so that his release date could be re-calculated. Id. at 397.

Here, as in Pizano, the failure to apply Tripp credit to his sentence in the 1990 case affected Matthews' release date in the 1994 case. As Matthews' sentence in 94-1592 commenced consecutive to his sentence in 90-1156, he is entitled to the Tripp credit. See Vellucci v. Cochran, 138 So.2d 510 (Fla.1962); Silvester v. State, 794 So.2d 683 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001) (Judge Klein concurring specially and interpreting Vellucci to mean that "if a defendant has wrongfully served the first of two consecutive sentences, the time he wrongfully served on the first sentence should be credited to the sentence which was to begin at the expiration of the first sentence.").

Matthews v. State, 854 So. 2d at 239-240.

The decision of the appellate court is supported by this Court's holding in <u>Vellucci v. Cochran</u>, 138 So. 2d 510 (Fla. 1962) as well as the rule of law that a court may at any time correct the award for credit for time served. <u>State v. Mancino</u>, 714 So. 2d 429, 433 (Fla. 1998).

In <u>Vellucci</u>, this Court agreed with the defendant that he was illegally detained on an escape charge because he was a minor at the time and his parents were not given notice as required by the statute in effect at the time. This Court concluded that the judgment was null and void. However, the defendant was subject to retrial on the charge. Furthermore, this Court did not order the defendant's release from custody because a consecutive prison sentence had been imposed in an unrelated escape case. Instead, this Court fashioned the following remedy:

> If upon retrial of the first charge of escape the petitioner is resentenced to a term of imprisonment equal to the term originally ordered for such offense, of course, the credit should be given to him for the time he has served under the void judgment and sentence; if he is acquitted or is convicted and sentenced to a term less than that already served under the void judgment and sentence, then credit should be given to the petitioner accordingly in the determination of the date of his discharge from the lawful sentence imposed for the second offense.

138 So. 2d at 512. The <u>Vellucci</u> remedy recognized that the amount of time served on the second sentence was directly effected by what occurs in the first case because it ran consecutive to the first. Likewise, the amount of time served in the 1990 case directly effected the amount of time served in the 1994 case because the sentences were consecutive. Thus, unlike <u>Moore v. Moore</u>, 764 So. 2d 676 (Fla. 1st DCA 2000), <u>Archibald v.</u> <u>State</u>, 715 So. 2d 1154 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998) and <u>Lee v. State</u>, 230 So. 2d 478 (Fla. 4th DCA 1970) cited by petitioner which do **not** address the issue of jurisdiction to correct a sentence which although expired effects a consecutive sentence which is still being served, the issue of credit for time served here was not moot at the time the motion to correct sentence pursuant to <u>Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure</u> 3.800 (b)(2) was filed³.

Last, petitioner's argument *inter alia* that the motion to correct sentence was insufficient, like the mootness argument, is peripheral to the certified conflict and need not be considered in resolving the issue. Moreover, it is based upon a faulty premise.

Mr. Matthews raised the issue by filing a motion to correct sentence pursuant to <u>Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure</u> 3.800(b)(2), not pursuant to <u>Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure</u> 3.800 (a) as asserted by petitioner at page 6 (SR 1-3). Furthermore, as the motion read, Mr. Matthews asked the Court to credit the 4 1/2 year sentence imposed on count III with the 5 years in prison imposed on counts I and II. Thus, contrary to

³Respondent reiterates his suggestion that the issue is now moot since he has been released on both cases without having received any additional credit as the result of the appellate court decision.

petitioner's claim there was nothing speculative in the request.

Simply stated, this Court should approve the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal which held that credit for 5 years in prison ordered on counts I and II must be award to the sentence imposed on Count III upon violation of probation.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the argument and authorities presented above, the Court should approve the opinion of the Fourth District Court of Appeal in <u>Matthews v. State</u>, 854 So. 2d 238 (Fla. 4th DCA 2003)